FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/29/2017 1:09 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 34566-1-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SWANSON HAY COMPANY,
HATFIELD ENTERPRIZES, INC., a Washington corporation, and
SYSTEM-TWT TRANSPORT, a Washington corporation,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Aaron Riensche, WSBA #37202 Ogden Murphy Wallace PLLC 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98164-2008 (206) 447-7000 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Thomas Fitzpatrick, WSBA #8894 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

System-TWT Transport ("System") and Hatfield Enterprizes ("Hatfield") seek review by this Court of the published Court of Appeals, Division III, decision set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division III filed its published decision on October 31, 2017 affirming assessments by the Employment Security Department ("ESD") for unemployment compensation taxes against System and Hatfield. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-57.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act ("FAAAA") contains an exceedingly broad provision preempting any state action that relates even indirectly to a carrier's prices, routes, or services, and ESD's taxation of owner/operators is a direct interference with an established business model in the trucking industry affecting carrier prices, routes, and services, are ESD's assessments of the carriers preempted by federal law?
- 2. Under RCW 50.04.140's independent-contractor exception to unemployment compensation taxes, where the owner/operators make an enormous investment in their businesses, the carriers do not control the method and detail by which owner/operators perform transportation services, and owner/operators work on the open road, did ESD err in refusing to find that owner/operators are exempt independent contractors?
- 3. Where ESD's "audits" were politically-inspired, conducted in bad faith by an illegal task force, contrary to ESD's own standards for fairness and objectivity in dealing with taxpayers, must the assessment against the carriers be set aside as

arbitrary or capricious and violative of the carriers' due process rights?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division III's factual recitation is devoid of critical facts pertinent to the vital importance of owner/operators to the trucking industry and instead focuses inordinately on the history of unemployment compensation taxation. Op. at 2-10.

First, the court's opinion fails to address the central role of owner/operators in the trucking industry and the legitimate economic imperative behind their use. Owner/operators have long been important in the trucking industry. ARS3¹ at 93.² Because demand in the contemporary American trucking industry fluctuates so dramatically, the industry is structured around these independent owner/operators, who provide carriers like System/Hatfield with a flexible supply of trucking equipment. ARS3 at 93.

For owner/operators, an independent-contractor relationship is similarly beneficial. Today's shippers are sophisticated and now look for "one stop" shopping for their shipping needs. *Id.* at 95. It would thus be

¹ The Administrative Record for System is cited herein as "ARS" followed by the volume number.

² See generally, Douglas C. Grawe, Have Truck, Will Drive: The Trucking Industry and the Use of Independent Owner-Operators Over Time, 35 Transp. L.J. 115 (2008). Owner/operators are used in most, if not all, sectors of the industry, including long-haul trucking, household-goods moving, and intermodal operations.

extremely difficult for an individual owning a single truck to compete. By contracting with large carriers, owner/operators can overcome this obstacle and still maintain a small business. *Id.* The carriers give owner/operators access to higher-paying freight than they would have access to if they operated under their own authority and make it easier for owner/operators to obtain insurance. *Id.* at 132.³

When the federal government de-regulated the trucking industry, owner/operators existed. The federal government made a policy decision to keep owner/operators as independent contractors but also to pervasively regulate the relationship between owner/operators and carriers. The federal government requires motor carriers, such as System and Hatfield, to engage owner/operators through a written lease agreement, under 49 C.F.R. § 376. These regulations not only require a written lease contract, but also specify certain terms that are *mandatory* for any equipment lease agreement.⁴

³ A national organization, the Owner/Operator Independent Drivers Association ("OOIDA") has 153,000 members nationally who value their business independence. ARS3 at 129.

⁴ For example, federal law *mandates* that an owner-operator must use a carrier's federal operating authority, 49 C.F.R. § 390.21(b)(2); 49 C.F.R. § 376.11(c)(1), and that carriers must insure that owner-operators comply with federal alcohol and drug testing regimes for drivers. 49 C.F.R. §§ 382.107, 382.601. Federal law even dictates that carriers must give written authorization for owner/operators to have passengers in a truck. 49 C.F.R. § 392.60. The CRO highlighted the fact that System must provide written authorization for equipment to be leased to other carriers. ARS1 at 372. This is a federal requirement, 49 C.F.R. § 376.22, designed to ensure accountability for the leased equipment. The CRO also highlighted such cargo-protection requirements as

Second, apart from its mention in passing in the opinion at 8, Division III is silent on ESD's targeting of the trucking industry through a multi-agency task force. For politically-inspired reasons, ESD targeted the trucking industry conducting hundreds of audits through an "underground economy task force" ("UETF").⁵ It rigged its audits.⁶

ESD auditors ignored ESD's own standards dictating how its audits must be conducted, including its Tax Audit Manual ("TAM") that provided factors for an auditor to assess to determine if work is performed by an independent contractor, *id.* at 539, and the Status Manual ("SM") it provided to its auditors that directly addressed "truck drivers," telling an auditor how to distinguish an employee from an owner/operator. ARS3 at 570. Finally, ESD generally required that all audits be conducted

_

owner/operators' responsibility to maintain equipment in good operating condition and supply safety devices. But properly functioning equipment that does not break down en route is important to the safety of the motoring public, ensures that a carrier's contractual purpose is achieved, and avoids liability exposure for the trucking carrier. The CRO noted further that System has the right to take possession of the equipment to complete a shipment if the owner/operator breaches the contract. ARS1 at 373. But completion of contracts is not just related to services—it *is* the service that carriers offer their customers. The CRO is inherently saying that a carrier can offer guaranteed delivery to customers only if it uses employees.

http://www.lni.wa.gov/Main/AboutLNI/Legislature/PDFs/Reports/2015/UndergroundEconomyBenchmarkReport.pdf (last visited November 2, 2016). Ch. 432, Laws of 2009, § 13 required DOR, DOLI, and ESD to "coordinate" their efforts and report annually to the Legislature. Apart from that direction to "coordinate," the Legislature, by statute, and ESD, by rulemaking, have never defined the organization, mission, or authority of the UTEF.

⁶ This Court is familiar with much of the factual predicate for these rigged audits from *Wash. Trucking Ass'ns v. Emp't Security Dep't*, 188 Wn.2d 198, 393 P.3d 761 (2017), *cert. denied*, 2017 WL 3324734 (2017) ("WTA").

according to Generally Accepted Auditing Standards ("GAAS"), which mandate auditor objectivity, but it ignored GAAS in these audits.⁷

The sham audits resulted in bloated assessments that were ultimately reduced in the administrative process because ESD illegally taxed equipment rather than wages.⁸ ESD *knew* its audits illegally taxed equipment but its managers ordered auditors to impose those taxes anyway as a device to enhance its leverage on settlement. ARH2 at 393-99, 407-08, 418-22.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED⁹

It is not often that this Court is confronted with a make-or-break decision regarding an entire industry, but that is true here. Owner/operators are vital to the trucking industry. The implications of Division III's decision extend far beyond ESD unemployment taxes. It affects carriers in tax, wage and hours, and a variety of other areas.

⁷ Precluding any pretense of objectivity, UETF auditors had job performance quotas requiring them to conduct a minimum number of audits, to discover a certain amount of taxes, and to find a certain number of new employees. ARS3 at 248–52, 577, 579. One even had the audacity to ask then Governor Gregoire in an email to pay her a bonus based on revenues she generated for the State. *Id.* at 584.

⁸ System's initial assessment was \$264,000, later reduced to \$58,000.

⁹ In reviewing the CRO's decisions, the courts apply the provisions of RCW 34.05.570. System/Hatfield bear the burden of demonstrating the CRO erred, RCW 34.05.570(1)(a), and a court must grant relief if System/Hatfield demonstrate that one or more of the statutory bases for relief set forth in RCW 34.05.570(3) are met. *Edelman v. State*, 160 Wn. App. 294, 304, 248 P.3d 581 (2011). Upon appellate review, notwithstanding any decision by the trial court here, this Court sits in the same position as

Division III's decision will stifle the use of the critical owner/operator business model.

(1) ESD's Attack on the Owner/Operator Business Model Is Federally Preempted

Division III applied the wrong standard in addressing federal preemption under the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act, 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1) ("FAAAA"), op. at 11-30, and this Court should grant review to address this critical issue. RAP 13.4(b)(4).¹⁰

Congress de-regulated interstate trucking in 1980 and intrastate trucking in 1994, and enacted express preemption statutes to make sure market forces would prevail and that local jurisdictions would not reregulate the trucking industry. *Rowe v. New Hampshire Motor Transp. Ass'n*, 552 U.S. 364, 367-68, 370-71, 128 S. Ct. 989, 169 L. Ed. 2d 933 (2008).¹¹

did the trial court, and it applies the APA to the administrative record. *Cornelius v. Wash. Dep't of Ecology*, 182 Wn.2d 574, 585, 344 P.3d 199 (2015).

Petition for Review - 6

The scope of FAAAA preemption is essentially one of first impression for this Court. The Court addressed FAAAA preemption only in a footnote in *Bostain v. Food Express, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 700, 722 n.9, 153 P.3d 846 (2007). Division III correctly concluded that Division I's decision in *Western Ports Transp., Inc. v. Emp't Security Dep't*, 110 Wn. App. 440, 41 P.3d 510 (2002) had no relevance to express federal preemption as that case did not address the issue. Op. at 14-16.

The preemptive language of the FAAAA prohibits states from "enacting or enforcing a law, regulation, or other provision . . . related to a price, route, or service" of any carrier with respect to the transportation of property. 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1) (emphasis added). This Court must apply the express preemption statute Congress enacted. Supremacy Clause, United States Const. art. VI, ct. 2; W.G. Clark Constr. Co. v. Pac. NW Regional Council of Carpenters, 180 Wn.2d 54, 62, 322 P.3d 1207 (2014) (with

FAAAA preemption must be construed *broadly*, consistent with its broad interpretation of similar preemptive language enacted by Congress in connection with airline deregulation, language on which the FAAAA preemption provision is modeled. *Morales v. Trans World Airlines, Inc.*, 504 U.S. 374, 383-84, 112 S. Ct. 2031, 119 L. Ed. 2d 157 (1992); *Rowe*, 552 U.S. at 370-71 (Congress adopted FAAAA preemptive language knowing of broad construction of same language in *Morales*). Given this broad federal preemption and the importance of owner/operators to the trucking industry, every time a state or local government has attempted to *directly* ban owner/operators in the industry, courts have held such efforts to be FAAAA-preempted.¹²

Division III improperly focused on whether Title 50 RCW is a law of "general applicability." Op. at 13, 20-23. Again, decisions of the United States Supreme Court are on point. In *Rowe*, the Court made clear that even laws that *indirectly* impact prices, routes, or services are

r

respect to federal statutes, Washington courts are bound by the construction placed upon them by the U.S. Supreme Court and decisions of the circuit courts are persuasive authority only).

¹² E.g., American Trucking Ass'ns, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles, 596 F.3d 602, 604-05 (9th Cir. 2010) (local regulation developed in the guise of promoting port environmental policies prohibiting use of independent contractor drivers at port was preempted); In re Federal Preemption of Provisions of the Motor Carrier Act, 566 N.W.2d 299, 308–09 (Mich. App. 1997), review denied, 587 N.W.2d 632 (Mich. 1998), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1018 (1998) (striking down as preempted a regulation mandating that a truck be operated only by persons who were employees of the trucking carrier).

preempted, provided they have a significant impact.¹³ Moreover, even if a law can be characterized as "generally applicable," it is preempted if its effect intrudes upon trucking carrier routes, prices, and services.¹⁴

Other courts have properly rejected any such interpretation of the FAAAA disconnected from the FAAAA's express language. Perhaps most emblematic of this analysis is the courts' treatment of Massachusetts' attempt to statutorily distinguish between employees and independent contractors for a variety of its labor laws. That statute adopted what amounts to the same standard for independent contractors that ESD has used to interpret RCW 50.04.140. Courts interpreting that statute have repeatedly held that it is FAAAA-preempted as it relates to the trucking industry because it affects routes, prices, and services by effectively eliminating a particular employment or business model in the trucking industry and creating a patchwork of state laws, contrary to the

¹³ In effect, Division III created an FAAAA exception found nowhere in the FAAAA's actual statutory language. The United States Supreme Court has expressly rejected attempts to imply exceptions to the broad scope of the FAAAA preemptive language not found in the FAAAA itself. *Rowe*, 552 U.S. at 374 (rejecting public health exception to FAAAA preemption – "The Act says nothing about a public health exception.").

¹⁴ E.g., American Airlines v. Wolens, 513 U.S. 219, 115 S. Ct. 817, 130 L. Ed. 2d 715 (1995) (preempting Illinois consumer protection statute, a statute of general applicability); Nw., Inc. v. Ginsberg, ___ U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 1422, 188 L. Ed. 2d 538 (2014) (preempting general common-law claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, principles of general applicability).

deregulation policy of Congress.¹⁵ Division III dismissed those cases. Op. at 16-18.

Division III also claimed that enforcement of Title 50 RCW as to System/Hatfield owner/operators will have little real effect on routes, prices, or services, ignoring the *unrebutted* evidence to the contrary. Larry Pursley, Executive Vice President of the Washington Trucking Associations, Washington's principal trade organization for trucking firms, who has 33 years of experience in the trucking industry, opined that "ESD's assessments imperil the structure of Washington's trucking industry." ARS3 at 94. He explained that owner/operators provide a flexible supply of equipment in an industry with volatile demand. To

¹⁵ Sanchez v. Lasership, Inc., 937 F. Supp. 2d 730 (E.D. Va. 2013); Mass. Delivery Ass'n v. Coakley, 769 F.3d 11, 17 (1st Cir. 2014); Schwann v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 813 F.3d 429 (1st Cir. 2016); Mass. Delivery Ass'n v. Healey, 821 F.3d 187 (1st Cir. 2016). In Remington v. J.B. Hunt Transport, Inc., 2016 WL 4975194 (D. Mass. 2016), the court held that the FAAAA preempted any effort by class action owner/operator plaintiffs claiming a violation of Massachusetts' independent contractor statute to assert that the deduction of expenses for repairs, cargo losses, insurance, or administrative fees from owner/operator compensation constituted "control" under that statute where the owner/operator regulations of 49 C.F.R. Part 376 authorized such deductions. As the court succinctly observed: "What is explicitly permitted by federal regulations cannot be forbidden by state law." Id. at *4. See also, Rodriguez v. RWA Trucking Co., 219 Cal. App. 4th 692, 710 (Cal. App. 2013) (California insurance law could not prohibit charge back to truck drivers of insurance costs in light of federal law).

¹⁶ ESD presented *no evidence* to contradict the Carriers' testimony that ESD's conduct affected routes, prices, and services. The *only evidence* in this record concerning the impact of ESD's assessments on System came from Larry Pursley, Joe Rajkovacz, and Ted Rehwald. ARS3 at 91–95, 129–32, 146–49. *All* of those witnesses testified that ESD's taxation of owners/operators affected routes, prices, or services in the trucking industry. Division III concluded in a footnote that evidence of the impact on routes, prices, and services is essentially unnecessary. Op. at 19 n.8.

meet this demand with employees, carriers would need to maintain higher equipment and personnel levels than the market calls for normally. *Id*. The added costs—not just of the equipment and the personnel, but also of the associated expenses—would necessarily be passed on to customers in the form of higher prices. *Id*. at 94–95. System's Vice President of Finance & Administration, Ted Rehwald, echoed this concern, explaining that the owner/operator model provides operational flexibility, *id*. at 147, allowing System to meet fluctuating demand for its services without purchasing expensive equipment that would sit idle during periods of reduced demand. *Id*.; *see also*, ARS3 at 88-89, 138-40, 142-43; ARH1 at 37.¹⁷

The financial impact of ESD taxation alone on trucking carriers is far from *de minimus*. For the time periods in question, ESD ultimately assessed more than \$58,000 against System. ARS1 at 5. System will also have this tax obligation well *into the future*, if it uses the owner/operator business model. Plainly, this past and future taxation imposes an additional direct cost burden on trucking firms. Carriers may be compelled to re-route to avoid Washington taxes or alter their business

local Rajkovacz, formerly OOIDA's Director of Regulatory Affairs, testified that ESD's attempt to reclassify owner/operators will undoubtedly lead to diminished economic choices and reduced income for owner/operators. *Id.* at 132. He also testified that owner/operators located outside Washington who lease equipment to carriers in Washington will enjoy a competitive edge in the marketplace. *Id.*

model entirely. *See MacMillan-Piper v. Emp't Security Dep't* (Court of Appeals, Cause No. 75534-0-I) (Unlike System/Hatfield, carriers uses only owner/operators with no company drivers).

Critical to Division III's opinion that ignored the direct impact of unemployment taxes on carrier routes, prices, and services is its obstinate insistence that its opinion will have no impact outside the employment setting. Op. at 16-19.¹⁸

First, the court itself speculated on this fact. It largely *ignores* the fact that the UETF is a *multi-agency* task force bent on eliminating independent contractor relationships. Moreover, it *concedes* that there is advocacy "from some quarters" for applying ESD's analysis of independent contractors elsewhere. Op. at 18.

Second, even if ESD's actions alone impel *some* carriers to decline to use the owner/operator model, the FAAAA is implicated because government, not the market, has dictated the business model. Any such effort to supplant the owner/operator business model for trucking companies with a model of the government's choosing necessarily

¹⁸ The CRO adopted ESD's argument that it is only addressing unemployment compensation taxes, and not altering the industry's structure. ARS2 at 363–64.

constitutes an effort by ESD to supplant market forces with State regulation, something the FAAAA was specifically designed to forestall.¹⁹

Finally, if System/Hatfield are correct, and agencies will push ESD's interpretation in the tax or wage/hour setting, the impact is even more manifest. Trucking companies will face added expenses under wage and hour laws, and for benefits for drivers as employees. If trucking carriers cannot use owner/operators they may need to purchase equipment. Such equipment is not cheap and may often sit idle as cargo needs

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