FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/29/2018 4:33 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 952469

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SWANSON HAY COMPANY, a Washington corporation, HATFIELD ENTERPRIZES, INC., a Washington corporation, and SYSTEM-TWT TRANSPORT, a Washington corporation,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Eric D. Peterson, WSBA No. 35555 Senior Assistant Attorney General Leah E. Harris, WSBA No. 40815 Assistant Attorney General 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 206-464-7676 OID No. 91020

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The issues in this case are factually tied to specific trucking carriers who challenge tax assessments and present no reason for review. First, the Petitioners failed to show their drivers are independent contractors under the Act. That ruling does not involve a conflict with precedent or a question of broad public interest. Second, the claim of FAAAA preemption is consistent with precedent and, again, Petitioners show no reason why this Court should review their flawed arguments. Third, System and Hatfield's "audit conduct" theories ring hollow since they show no error in the final orders, and they had formal, de novo hearings where they achieved reductions in the assessment amounts. Such misdirected arguments, unmoored from any showing of erroneous final orders, do not merit review.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict with any Washington Supreme Court Decisions

By challenging in Division III the holdings of Division I's 2002 decision in *Western Ports*, the carriers had hoped to create a conflict that would warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). But the *Swanson Hay* court agreed with the *Western Ports* court in all relevant respects, and now Division I has reaffirmed its holdings, and Division II has agreed too. *MacMillan-Piper Inc.*, No. 75534-0-I, 2017 WL 6594805 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 26, 2017) (unpublished); *Gulick Trucking. Inc.*, No. 49646-1-II, 2018 WL 509096 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 23, 2018). There are now 16 years of uniform decisions rejecting Petitioners' arguments that owner-operators are exempt from the Act, that the state law independent contractor test should artificially ignore the control the carriers exercise over their drivers that originates in federal requirements, and that federal law preempts the Act. Faced with no real conflicts, the carriers attempt to manufacture a conflict with a 1945 decision of this Court, which interpreted a definition of "employment" in Title 50 RCW that pre-dated the current definition. They also suggest that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the decisions of *other jurisdictions*. This is not grounds for review. Finally, the carriers mischaracterize this Court's opinion in *Washington Trucking Associations, et al. v. Employment Security Department, et al.*, 188 Wn.2d 198, 393 P.3d 761 (2017), by claiming that it held that the administrative appeals must provide the carriers relief based on their arguments about the audit conduct. This Court said no such thing. None of the claimed conflicts exist or warrant review.

1. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with Seattle Aerie No. 1 or any other Washington Supreme Court decision

System and Hatfield argue the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a case from 1945: *Seattle Aerie No. 1 of the Fraternal Order of Eagles v. Commissioner of Unemployment Compensation and Placement*, 23 Wn.2d 167, 160 P.2d 614 (1945). They contend that it supports relying on the common law definition of "control" when analyzing the first element of the Employment Security Act's independent contractor test, RCW 50.04.140(1)(a) (whether the owner-operators were free from the carriers' "control or direction" over the performance of services). But, as the Court of Appeals noted, *Seattle Aerie* was decided just days before the Legislature broadened the definition of "employment" to expressly include "personal service . . . *unlimited by the relationship of master and servant as known to the common law or any other legal relationship*"³ RCW 50.04.100 (emphasis added). Accordingly, the Commissioner has not followed the *Seattle Aerie* decision for determining the scope of "employment."

System and Hatfield mischaracterize the Court of Appeals as permitting the Commissioner to "effectively state that this Court's opinion ... is no longer good law." System/Hatfield Pet. 18 n. 28. Not so. *This Court* later effectively stated that its decision in *Seattle Aerie*—at least as to the scope of "employment" in the Act—is no longer good law. *See Swanson Hay Co.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 206. In 1947, reflecting on the 1945 amendment to the definition of "employment," this Court stated:

> It is apparent that the 1945 legislature intended and deliberately concluded to extend the coverage of the 1943 unemployment compensation act and by express language, to preclude any construction that might limit the operation of the act to the relationship of master and servant as known to the common law or any other legal relationship.

³ Seattle Aerie was decided on June 28, 1945, and the current definition of "employment" became effective on July 1, 1945. Laws of 1945, ch. 35, § 11 (definition); ch. 36, § 192 (effective date); *Swanson Hay Co.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 205-06. It has not been meaningfully amended since.

Swanson Hay Co., 1 Wn. App. 2d at 207 (quoting Skrivanich v. Davis, 29 Wn.2d 150, 158, 186 P.2d 364 (1947)). System and Hatfield's continued reliance on *Seattle Aerie* is thus misplaced, and they show no conflict.

As for the carriers' apparent argument that common law cases defining control in other legal contexts should apply when assessing whether the owner-operators were free from "control or direction" under RCW 50.04.140(1)(a), the Court of Appeals properly rejected that too. The Washington Legislature did not incorporate "control" that distinguished servants and independent contractors under Washington common law. *Swanson Hay Co.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 207. Hence, as the Court of Appeals properly held, "when it comes to applying the 'free[dom] from control or direction over the performance of services' required for exemption under RCW 50.04.140(1), it is cases applying Title 50, not common law cases, that are controlling." *Id.* at 208.⁴

The Court of Appeals recognized at the outset that the context in which worker classification arises is critical, since in employment security law, "the relationship is more likely than any other to be viewed as

⁴ System and Hatfield also suggest in a footnote that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Kamla v. Space Needle Corporation*, 147 Wn.2d 114, 52 P.3d 472 (2002). System/Hatfield Petition 18 n.27. But that case addressed whether an employer retained the right to direct a contractor's work so as to bring the employer within the "retained control" exception to the general rule of non-liability for injuries of a contractor. *Kamla*, 147 Wn.2d at 119. It is not an unemployment case, and it did not discuss Title 50 RCW.

employment." Swanson Hay Co., 1 Wn. App. 2d at 180. This is both correct and hardly novel. Courts throughout the state—including this Court—have routinely recognized the breadth of employment coverage under the Employment Security Act. E.g., Wash. Trucking Ass'ns, 188 Wn.2d at 203 ("Persons engaged in 'employment' include independent contractors so long as they perform 'personal services' under a contract and an exemption does not apply."); W. Ports, 110 Wn. App. at 458 (Act's definition of "employment" is "exceedingly broad"). Thus Swanson Hay was right: the common law tests for "employment" and "control" do not apply in the employment security context. There is no conflict to review.

2. A conflict with other jurisdictions is not grounds for review

System and Hatfield suggest review is warranted because the Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent with other jurisdictions' decisions, including a decision from the Oregon Court of Appeals. System/Hatfield Pet. 14 and n.22, 23, 16 and n.25. This is not a true conflict warranting review. Many of the cited cases are not unemployment cases, and other state courts have applied their own laws to different facts.⁵ The different results

⁵ See System/Hatfield Pet. 14 n.22. For example, the contractual relationship in *Hammond v. Department of Employment*, 480 P.2d 912 (Idaho 1971), involved "a series of trip-by-trip contracts with the drivers doing little more than renting trailers from" the carrier, and the drivers were "entirely free from any control whatsoever in the performance of their work." In *Wisconsin Cheese Service, Inc. v. Department of Industry, Labor & Human Relations*, 340 N.W.2d 908 (Wis. Ct. App. 1983), the *only* showing of control was

the Petitioners cite are, therefore, unremarkable. Accordingly, these arguments cannot be grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), which requires a conflict with a decision of *this* Court.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected these other authorities as both "unhelpful" and "unpersuasive." *Swanson Hay Co.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 210-12. The plea to rule differently does not merit review.

> 3. The Court of Appeals conclusion that System and Hatfield did not prove violations of their constitutional rights does not conflict with this Court's decision in Washington Trucking Associations, et al. v. Employment Security Department, et al.

System and Hatfield wrongly assert that this Court's ruling last year in *Washington Trucking Associations* held that "ESD's adjudicative process must provide System/Hatfield a remedy for ESD's improper means or motive in imposing the assessment." System/Hatfield Pet. 24 (citing 188 Wn.2d at 224-25). Rather, this Court held that the state administrative procedure to review and correct an assessment is the only *process* by which the carriers may pursue claims about audit motives and means, but they still must prove those claims. *Wash. Trucking Ass'ns*, 188 Wn.2d at 224-26.

the power to terminate the leases. And in *Hough Transit, Ltd. v. Harig*, 373 N.W.2d 327 (Minn. Ct. App. 1985), Minnesota had a different definition of "employment," and the drivers in question were specifically excluded from the unemployment law. The *Western Ports* court acknowledged that different states have ruled differently concerning owner-operator unemployment coverage. *W. Ports*, 110 Wn. App. at 461-62. Besides, courts in some states have since approved of *Western Ports*. See C.R. England, Inc. v. Dep't of Emp't Sec., 7 N.E. 3d 864, 876-78 (III. App. Ct. 2014); SZL, Inc. v. Indus. Claim Appeals Office, 254 P.3d 1180, 1188 (Colo. Ct. App. 2011).

Moreover, the Court did not comment on how a taxpayer might seek review based on an auditor's conduct—i.e., whether trying to show error in the final order under RCW 34.05.570(3), or under another theory of relief for review of "other agency action" under RCW 34.05.570(4). *See id.* at 226 (stating that the carriers must "rely exclusively on the procedures set out in Title 50 RCW" to pursue their claims); *see also* RCW 50.32.120.

Regardless of how a carrier seeks review, it still must prove the Department's action was arbitrary and capricious or unconstitutional. RCW 34.05.570(3), (4). Nothing in this Court's opinion in *Washington Trucking Associations* or in Division III's opinion in *Swanson Hay* affects the standards for proving arbitrary and capricious or unconstitutional action. As the below tribunals ruled, System and Hatfield did not meet those standards.

Because the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any decisions of this or any other Washington court, review should be denied.

B. There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Requiring This Court's Determination

The carriers hyperbolically claim that this case is "make-or-break" or will have "a substantial impact on the future of" the trucking industry, because they claim treating owner-operators as in employment under the Employment Security Act will lead to them being treated as employees for all other purposes. System/Hatfield Pet. 5; Swanson Pet. 12. As a matter of law, they are wrong. The Court of Appeals ruling is explicitly based on and limited to—the unique provisions of the Employment Security Act. The ruling is a correct application of the Act to the facts, and it requires payment of unemployment taxes only; it has no other legal effect. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' rejection of the carriers' argument that the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act (FAAAA) preempts applying the Employment Security Act to trucking carriers was correct and does not present an issue of substantial public interest requiring this Court's review.

Further, permitting the consideration of federally required leasing provisions in applying the "control" test in the independent contractor statute, RCW 50.04.140(1)(a), is not an issue of substantial public interest, especially when the carriers exerted control beyond the federal requirements anyway.

1. The Court of Appeals conclusion that the FAAAA does not preempt a state law like the Employment Security Act is widely accepted, including by this Court

System and Hatfield have raised a theory of federal preemption that depends on the false assumption that the tax will result in a "restructuring" of the trucking industry. Therefore, they argue, the assessment is preempted by the FAAAA, which provides that a "State . . . may not enact or enforce a law, regulation, or other provision having the force and effect of law related to a price, route, or service of any motor carrier . . . with respect to

the transportation of property." 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c). Under this law, the test for preemption is met only where the state law aims directly at transportation, or where the law's impact on transportation is indirect but *significant. See Rowe v. N.H. Motor Transp. Ass'n*, 552 U.S. 364, 371, 128 S. Ct. 989, 169 L. Ed. 2d 933 (2008). Because the carriers claim that having to pay unemployment taxes will result in trucking businesses having to treat owner-operators as employees for all other purposes, the argument goes, the FAAAA preempts any unemployment tax imposition. They are wrong.

As a matter of law, the Employment Security Act requires employers to pay unemployment taxes only; it does not affect worker classification for any other purpose. This Court stated as much as early as 1945: "The only employment defined by the act is the employment intended to be covered by the act for the purposes of the act and none other." *State Unemp't Comp. & Placement v. Hunt,* 22 Wn.2d 897, 899, 158 P.2d 98 (1945). Division I reiterated the point in *Western Ports*, 110 Wn. App. at 458 ("an individual may be both an independent contractor for some purposes, and engaged in 'employment' for purposes of the Act"), as did Division III in *Swanson Hay Co.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 192 ("chapter 50.04 RCW defines employment and identifies its exemptions solely for unemployment insurance tax purposes"). This question is well settled, and

the Court of Appeals properly rejected the carriers' contention to the contrary. *Id.* at 192-94. There is no need to review this question further.⁶

Laws that have a "tenuous, remote, or peripheral" relationship to carrier prices, routes, or services are not preempted. *Rowe*, 552 U.S. at 371. The fact that a law is likely to increase a motor carrier's operating costs "alone does not make such law[] 'related to' prices, routes or services." *Dilts v. Penske Logistics, LLC*, 769 F.3d 637, 646 (9th Cir. 2014), *cert. denied*, 135 S. Ct. 2049 (2015). Rather, laws that "do not directly or indirectly mandate, prohibit, or otherwise regulate certain prices routes or services or services." *Id.* at 647.

Here, the impact of having to pay unemployment taxes on owneroperators' wages is modest. The *highest* unemployment insurance tax rates are 6–6.5 percent of payroll, and not all wages are taxed. RCW 50.29.025; RCW 50.24.010. The potential for a small increase in taxes is far removed from the nearly 100 percent increase in costs associated with the wholesale reclassification of independent contractors as employees for purposes of multiple laws, as was the case in the First Circuit decisions the carriers rely

⁶ Because it is settled as a matter of law that the Act affects classification only for the Act's purposes, System and Hatfield's claim that the Commissioner ignored "*unrebutted* evidence" of the impact on carrier prices, routes, and services based on converting owner-operators to employees, and their rhetoric about a multi-agency task force "bent on eliminating independent contractor relationships," System/Hatfield Pet. 9, 11, are red herrings.

on. See Massachusetts Delivery Ass'n v. Coakley, 769 F.3d 11, 15 (1st Cir. 2014). As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, those cases—and the Massachusetts independent contractor law at issue in them—are "inapplicable." Swanson Hay Co., 1 Wn. App. 2d at 196-98.

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